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INTRODUCTION 

 On September 25, 2020, the State filed a notice of intent to offer evidence of other acts 

pursuant to Minn. R. Evid. 404(b).  The State submits this memorandum of law in support of the 

admissibility of that evidence.  It submits a single memorandum of law addressing the evidence 

with respect to all four Defendants because the State will seek to admit all of the evidence in 

each of the cases.  Because accomplice liability requires the State to establish that another person 

committed a crime, the Rule 404(b) evidence of other acts by the other Defendants will bear on 

whether the other Defendants are liable as well, directly or as accomplices.   
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 The evidence of other acts is plainly admissible.  Under Rule 404(b), evidence of prior 

acts may be admissible to establish, among other things, intent, knowledge, modus operandi, or a 

common scheme or plan.  Here, each of the prior acts the State listed in its September 25 notice 

is offered for one of those permissible purposes.  The evidence identified in the notice is plainly 

relevant in establishing the Defendants’ mens rea and also to rebut the Defendants’ reasonable 

use-of-force defense, and the potential prejudice from admitting this evidence does not outweigh 

its probative value.  The evidence should be admitted at trial.   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

The following statement of facts is drawn from the complaint filed on June 3, 2020, and 

has been supplemented with other available record evidence.  The State incorporates here the 

statement of probable cause and finding of probable cause contained in the complaint.   

A. The Events of May 25, 2020 

1. At approximately 8 p.m. on May 25, 2020, Derek Chauvin and Tou Thao—both police 

officers at the time—were dispatched to Cup Foods at the corner of 38th Street and Chicago 

Avenue in Minneapolis on a report that an individual was suspected of using a counterfeit bill.  

(Thao, Bureau of Criminal Apprehension (“BCA”) Interview at 25:38-26:05.)  Before they could 

make their way to the scene, however, dispatch informed them that J. Alexander Kueng and 

Thomas Lane would handle the call instead.  (Thao, BCA Interview at 25:40-57.)   

At approximately 8:08 p.m., Kueng and Lane arrived at Cup Foods.  When they entered 

the store, the manager showed them a $20 bill that he believed was counterfeit.  He stated that 

the man who had passed the $20 bill was sitting in a blue vehicle across the street.  (Kueng & 

Lane, Body-Worn Camera (“BWC”) at 20:08:47-20:09:06.)  Kueng and Lane did not inspect the 

bill.  (Lane, BCA Interview at 42:49-52.)  Instead, they immediately approached the vehicle.  

(Kueng & Lane, BWC at 20:09:06-28.) 
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George Floyd was sitting in the vehicle’s driver’s seat.  Lane approached and tapped on 

the window, startling Floyd.  (Lane, BWC at 20:09:28-32.)  Floyd cracked the door open and 

apologized.  Lane instructed Floyd to show his hands.  (Lane, BWC at 20:09:32-40.)  Seconds 

later, Lane pulled his firearm on Floyd, pointed it at Floyd, and yelled at him to “put your 

fucking hands up right now.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:09:41-44.)  Visibly shaken, Floyd asked Lane 

what he had done wrong, put his hands up, and placed them on the steering wheel, complying 

with Lane’s instructions.  Instead of answering Floyd’s question, Lane continued to curse at 

Floyd, telling him to “keep your fucking hands on the wheel.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:09:45-58.)  

Floyd immediately complied.  Lane instructed Floyd to put his hands on his head, and Floyd 

again complied.  Lane then lowered his gun.  (Lane, BWC at 20:10:20-22.)      

Floyd, clearly upset, continued to apologize to Lane, and explained repeatedly that he had 

been shot before.  (Lane, BWC at 20:09:36-20:10:09.)  Sobbing, he pleaded:  “Mr. Officer, 

please don’t shoot me.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:10:35-37.)  As he pleaded for his life, he also told 

Lane that “I just lost my mom.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:10:35-20:11:02.) 

Lane told Floyd to step out of the car.  At this point, Lane asked dispatch for backup.  

(Lane, BWC at 20:10:45; Lane, BCA Interview at 58:00-15; Thao, BCA Interview at 27:30-35.)  

In response, Chauvin and Thao drove to Cup Foods with their squad car lights and sirens 

activated.  (Thao, BCA Interview at 27:40-51; Thao, BWC at 20:11:30-20:12:14.)   

After Floyd stepped out of the car, Kueng came around to the driver’s side, and he and 

Lane handcuffed Floyd’s arms behind his back.  (Kueng, BWC at 20:11:10-49.)  From this 

moment on, and for all of the remaining minutes of his life, Floyd’s hands remained cuffed.   

Kueng walked Floyd to the sidewalk and told him to sit down on the ground.  Floyd did 

so, immediately becoming calmer and saying “thank you” to Kueng three times.  (Kueng, BWC 
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at 20:11:49-20:12:15.)  While Floyd was seated on the sidewalk, Lane interviewed the other two 

passengers.  (Lane, BWC at 20:11:43-20:14:02; Kueng, BWC at 20:12:14-20:13:54.)  One of the 

passengers explained that Floyd was scared of the police, and was likely scared when Lane 

pulled out his weapon because Floyd had been shot before.  (Lane, BWC at 20:12:52-20:13:07.)   

While speaking with the passengers, Lane reported a “Code 4” to dispatch, which meant 

that the “[s]ituation [was] under control” and that “[r]esponding squads that have not arrived may 

clear.”  Minneapolis Police Department Policy and Procedure Manual, § 7-103.  (Lane, BWC at 

20:12:14-16.)  Dispatch therefore told Chauvin and Thao that the request for backup had been 

canceled.  Chauvin and Thao, however, continued to the scene anyway.  (Thao, BCA Interview 

at 27:54-28:40; Thao, BWC at 20:12:14-27.) 

2. Although Floyd remained compliant and conversant while seated on the sidewalk, 

Kueng and Lane decided to detain Floyd in their squad car.  (Kueng, BWC at 20:13:32-36.)  As 

they walked over to the squad car, Lane asked whether Floyd was “on something right now,” and 

Kueng said Floyd was “acting real erratic” while walking in handcuffs.  (Lane, BWC at 

20:14:10-13.)  Floyd responded that he was “scared.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:14:13.)  

When they reached the squad car, Floyd pleaded to talk with the officers.  Kueng refused, 

telling him:  “Man, you ain’t listening to nothing we’re saying, so we’re not going to listen to 

nothing you’re saying.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:14:14-20:15:01.)  Floyd told Kueng and Lane 

several times that he was scared to get into the squad car, and he stated five times that he was 

“claustrophobic.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:14:47-20:15:06.)  But Kueng and Lane insisted they would 

have a conversation with Floyd only after he got into the squad car.  They pinned Floyd against 

the squad car and patted him down.  While being patted down, Floyd stated:  “I’m not resisting, 
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man.  I’m not.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:15:11-15.)  Kueng found a small pipe in Floyd’s pocket, but 

found no weapons on his person.  (Kueng, BWC at 20:15:15-54.) 

As Floyd stood outside the squad car, he begged Kueng and Lane not to leave him alone 

in the car.  He stated that he would not do anything to hurt them.  And he begged them not to 

“leave me by myself, man, please.  I’m just claustrophobic.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:15:34-40.)  In 

response, Lane told Floyd:  “Well, you’re still going in the car.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:15:39-41.)   

Kueng and Lane then began forcing Floyd inside the open rear driver’s side door of the 

squad car.  (Lane, BWC at 20:16:20.)  Floyd exclaimed:  “I’ma die in here, I’ma die man.”  

(Lane, BWC at 20:16:40-43.)  Floyd also noted that he “just had COVID,” and that he didn’t 

“want to go back to that.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:16:44-46.)  And he asked Kueng and Lane to allow 

him to count to three before getting into the back of the squad car, insisting that he was not trying 

to “win.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:17:20-26.)  

3. At 8:17 p.m., Chauvin and Thao arrived on the scene.  (Thao, BWC at 20:17:07.)  As 

they approached, they saw Kueng and Lane trying to force Floyd into the back of the squad car, 

and heard a bystander yelling to Floyd that he should get in the car because “you can’t win.”  

(Thao, BWC at 20:17:19-48.)  Floyd responded he was not “trying to win,” and told the officers 

four times that he was claustrophobic and that he wanted to speak to them outside the squad car.  

(Thao, BWC at 20:17:22-47.)  Floyd also pleaded for the officers to allow him to get on the 

ground or do “anything” other than get in the car.  (Thao, BWC at 20:17:25-29.)   

The officers, however, ignored Floyd’s pleas.  Chauvin watched from the sidewalk as 

Kueng pushed Floyd into the back seat from the driver’s side.  (Thao, BWC at 20:17:37-59.)  

Chauvin then circled to the passenger’s side of the car and instructed Lane to pull Floyd into the 

car.  (Thao & Lane, BWC at 20:17:59-20:18:05.)  During this time, Floyd continued to plead 
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with the officers, repeating “please, Mr. Officer, please” and “I’m not a bad guy.”  (Thao, BWC 

at 20:17:49-20:18:00.)  Floyd also exclaimed:  “I can’t breathe, Mr. Officer.  Please.”  (Thao, 

BWC at 20:18:05-08.) 

Floyd fell partway through the rear passenger’s side door, and he asked to be laid on the 

ground.  (Thao, BWC at 20:18:15-20.)  Chauvin and Lane, however, pinned Floyd against the 

passenger’s side back seat, while Thao watched from the driver’s side.  (Thao, BWC at 20:18:22-

29; Thao, BWC at 20:18:30-48; Thao, BCA Interview at 32:34-40.)  During this time, Floyd 

continued to yell “please,” and repeatedly said he couldn’t breathe, explaining that he “just had 

COVID” and telling the officers “I’m not going to run.”  (Kueng, Thao, & Lane, BWC at 

20:17:59-20:19:01.)  But the officers dismissed his complaints.  Chauvin told him:  “You’re 

talking. . . .  It takes a lot of oxygen to . . . say ‘I can’t breathe.’”  (Thao, BWC at 20:18:40-46.)   

When the other officers were unable to lift Floyd into the squad car, Thao said:  “We’re 

just going to have to hogtie him.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:18:48-50.)  He then circled to the 

passenger’s side and repeated:  “We’re just gonna have to tie him.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:18:52-

53.)  Lane agreed, telling Chauvin and Kueng:  “Let’s take him out and just MRT”—referring to 

the Maximal Restraint Technique, which utilizes the Hobble device to “secure a subject’s feet to 

their waist in order to prevent the movement of legs.”1  MPD Policy & Procedure Manual 5-316 

§ III.  (Lane, BWC at 20:19:02-04.)  The others agreed, and Chauvin and Kueng took Floyd to 

the ground.  (Thao, BWC at 20:19:06-11.) 

                                                 
1 A Hobble “limits the motion of a person by tethering both legs together.”  MPD Policy & 
Procedure Manual 5-316 § III.  The Maximal Restraint Technique is accomplished using two 
Hobbles connected together.  Id. § IV.A.2.  MPD policy, however, also specifically provides:  
“Do not tie the feet of the subject directly to their hands behind their back.  This is also known as 
a hogtie.”  MPD Policy & Procedure Manual 5-316 § IV.A.2.d (emphasis added). 
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4. At 8:19 p.m., Chauvin, Kueng, and Lane pinned Floyd to the pavement face-down.  

Chauvin pressed his knee into the back of Floyd’s neck and held down Floyd’s left hand.  Kueng 

knelt on Floyd’s back, and held down Floyd’s handcuffed left wrist with his hand.  Lane 

restrained Floyd’s legs, kneeling on them and pressing them down with his hands.  (Lane, BWC 

at 20:19:14-45.)  Shortly after they pinned Floyd to the ground, Lane called in an EMS “Code 2,” 

signaling that emergency medical services were needed but that emergency personnel were not 

required to use their sirens to reach the scene.2  (Lane, BWC at 20:19:48-52.)   

As Chauvin took up his position atop Floyd’s neck, he asked the other officers whether 

they had their Hobble.  (Kueng, BWC at 20:19:18-23.)  Thao then began searching for a Hobble 

in the back of the squad car.  (Thao, BWC at 20:19:17-23.)  While Thao searched for a Hobble, 

Floyd pleaded with Chauvin that he could not breathe, and called for his recently deceased 

mother.  (Thao, BWC at 20:19:24-20:20:24.)  He also cried “I’m dead,” and told the officers that 

what they were doing to him was “cold blooded.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:19:20-20:20:18.)  Chauvin 

responded sarcastically:  “Yeah, you’re doing a lot of talking though.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:20:18-

19.)  He also told Floyd that he was “going to jail.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:19:50-57.)   

After Thao found a Hobble, he asked whether the other officers still “want to Hobble at 

this point then.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:20:25-31.)  When the other officers did not answer 

immediately, Thao suggested “why don’t we just hold him until EMS” arrives, and added that “if 

we Hobble a Sergeant’s going to have to come over.”3  (Thao, BWC at 20:20:32-39.)  The 

                                                 
2 Thao later upgraded that to an EMS code 3, requiring emergency services to use red lights and 
sirens to reach the scene.  (Thao, BWC at 20:21:12-27.) 
3 Under MPD policy, whenever a Hobble is used in connection with the Maximal Restraint 
Technique (MRT), “[a] supervisor shall be called to the scene where a subject has been 
restrained,” and the supervisor is required to “complete a Supervisor’s Force Review.”  MPD 
Policy & Procedure Manual 5-316(IV).    
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officers—Chauvin included—decided against using the Hobble.  Chauvin, Kueng, and Lane 

therefore continued to maintain their positions directly on top of Floyd.  Indeed, when Lane 

asked whether the other officers wanted to “get [Floyd’s] legs up,” Chauvin and Kueng both 

responded:  “Just leave him.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:20:47-52.)  Thao, meanwhile, stood watch 

and guarded against any interference with the officers’ actions by, among other things, 

positioning himself between the other officers and the gathering group of concerned citizens, 

which included several children.  (Thao, BWC at 20:21:38-20:22:40.)   

For the first five minutes the officers pinned Floyd to the ground, Floyd repeatedly cried 

for help.  He yelled “I can’t breathe” more than twenty times.  He called for his deceased mother 

almost a dozen times.  He pleaded with Chauvin, who continued to kneel on his neck:   

I can’t breathe.  Please, your knee in my neck.   

(Lane, BWC at 20:21:53-59.)  Floyd screamed that he was in significant pain:  

My knee, my neck . . . I’m claustrophobic.  My stomach hurt.  My neck hurt.  
Everything hurt.   

(Lane, BWC at 20:22:16-29.)  He asked the officers to “tell my kids I love them.”  (Lane, BWC 

at 20:20:07-08.)  And he told the officers almost ten times that he feared he would die while 

lying on the ground, saying:  

I’ll probably just die this way. . . .  I’m through, I’m through. . . .  They’re gonna 
kill me, they gonna kill me, man.   

(Lane, BWC at 20:21:45-47, 20:22:19-22, 20:22:42-45.)    

The officers, however, ignored Floyd’s desperate pleas for help.  Chauvin, who continued 

to press his knee into Floyd’s neck, responded dismissively:  “You’re doing a lot of talking, a lot 
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of yelling.  It takes a heck of a lot of oxygen to say things.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:22:39-50.)  

Kueng reacted to Chauvin’s comment with a smirk.  (Thao, BWC at 20:22:48-51.)   

As Floyd yelled that he could not breathe, the bystanders shouted for Chauvin to take his 

knee off Floyd’s neck.  One bystander yelled:  “You can get off his neck, man.  That’s wrong 

right there.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:22:49-20:23:00.)  Another bystander observed that Floyd was 

“not even resisting arrest.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:23:05-09.)  Chauvin heard the bystanders’ pleas 

and periodically looked up at the crowd.  (Darnella Frazier Facebook Video 2:38-43, 2:53, 3:21, 

3:30-3:32.)  But even as the bystanders pleaded with Chauvin to remove his knee from Floyd’s 

neck, Chauvin rolled his knee back and forth, pressing it into Floyd’s neck and maintaining 

pressure on Floyd’s breathing.  Thao, meanwhile, stood guard.  He watched the other officers 

while telling the crowd:  “He’s talking, so he’s fine” and “This is why you don’t do drugs, kids.”  

(Thao, BWC at 20:23:00-26.)  And when one bystander expressed concern that Chauvin was 

“trapping” and “stopping” Floyd’s breathing, Thao responded:  “He’s talking. . . .  It’s hard to 

talk if you’re not breathing.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:23:40-20:24:04).     

After four minutes, Floyd’s cries for help became softer.  His screams turned into grunts, 

and his grunts into mumbles.  Floyd then said what would be his final words:  “I can’t breathe.”  

(Lane & Kueng, BWC at 20:23:58-20:24:00.)  He soon fell silent and lost consciousness. 

But even after Floyd went limp, Chauvin continued to restrain him, pressing his knee into 

Floyd’s neck and restraining Floyd’s left hand.  Kueng and Lane continued to restrain Floyd’s 

back and legs.  And Thao continued to stand between the other officers and the bystanders 

gathered on the sidewalk, pushing back anyone who stepped off the sidewalk and moved toward 

Floyd and the other officers.  As Floyd lost consciousness, Lane asked the other officers:  

“Should we roll him on his side?”  Chauvin rejected that option out of hand, telling Lane and 
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Kueng to “stay[] put where you got him.”  (Kueng, BWC at 20:23:48-52.)  Kueng agreed with 

Chauvin and told Lane:  “No, just leave him.”  (Kueng BWC, 20:23:49-51.)   

By this point, the half-dozen or so bystanders gathered on the sidewalk had begun yelling 

at the officers, expressing concern that Floyd was struggling to breathe.  One bystander yelled 

that Floyd was “not even resisting arrest right now.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:24:40-44.)  He also 

yelled that Chauvin was responsible for “stopping [Floyd’s] breathing.”  (Thao, BWC at 

20:25:08-10.)  When a bystander screamed that Floyd was about to “pass out,” Lane remarked—

in apparent agreement with the bystander—that Floyd was indeed “passing out.”  (Lane & 

Kueng, BWC at 20:24:43-48.)  But Chauvin continued to maintain his position, pressing his knee 

into the back of Floyd’s neck.  (Darnella Frazier Facebook Video 3:42-4:00.)  In fact, rather than 

checking to see whether Floyd was still breathing, Chauvin asked Lane, who was still restraining 

Floyd’s legs, whether Lane was “alright.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:24:59-20:25:00.)  Lane responded:  

“My knee might be a little scratched, but I’ll survive.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:25:00-04.)  

Meanwhile, when a bystander said that Floyd was not “breathing right now,” Kueng and Lane 

both responded:  “He’s breathing.”  (Lane & Kueng, BWC at 20:25:10-15.)  But the body 

camera videos appear to show that Floyd’s shallow breaths stopped about 10 seconds later.  

(Kueng, BWC at 20:25:20-31.) 

At 8:25 p.m., a concerned bystander stepped toward Floyd, and asked Thao whether he 

was “just gonna let [Chauvin] choke [Floyd] like that?”  (Thao, BWC at 20:25:17-19.)  Chauvin 

pulled the mace from his belt and pointed it at the bystanders, while Thao moved to shield 

Chauvin.  (Darnella Frazier Facebook Video 4:28-37.)   

About ten seconds later, an off-duty Minneapolis firefighter arrived on the scene.  After 

identifying herself as a firefighter, she asked to provide Floyd with medical assistance, and asked 
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whether Floyd had a pulse.  Chauvin—mace still in hand—warned her twice:  “Don’t come over 

here.”  (Darnella Frazier Facebook Video 4:33-46; Kueng, BWC at 20:25:26-20:26:47.)  Lane 

and Thao likewise refused to allow her to tend to Floyd, with Thao shouting “back off” and Lane 

telling her to go “up on the sidewalk”  (Thao & Kueng, BWC at 20:25:26-20:26:47.)  Given the 

witnesses’ concerns about Floyd’s lack of responsiveness, Lane asked again whether the officers 

should “roll him on his side.”  (Lane, BWC at 20:25:39-41.)  No one responded.  The officers 

maintained their positions—Chauvin on Floyd’s neck, Kueng on his back, Lane on his legs, and 

Thao standing guard.  (Lane, BWC at 20:25:40-20:26:00.)   

As the bystanders grew increasingly vocal about Floyd’s lack of responsiveness, the off-

duty firefighter urged the officers to take Floyd’s pulse.  (Thao, BWC 20:25:53-20:26:03.)  

Another bystander also repeatedly pleaded for Thao to check Floyd’s pulse.  (Thao, BWC 

20:25:53-20:26:03.)  After hearing the bystanders’ pleas to check Floyd for a pulse, Lane asked 

Kueng whether he could find a pulse.  Kueng checked and said “I can’t find one.”  (Kueng & 

Lane, BWC at 20:25:45-20:26:00.)  Chauvin responded:  “Huh?”  Kueng clarified for Chauvin 

that he was “check[ing] [Floyd] for a pulse.”  (Kueng & Lane, BWC at 20:26:00-05.)  Kueng 

then continued to check Floyd for a pulse.  About ten seconds later, Kueng sighed, leaned back 

slightly, and repeated:  “I can’t find one.”  (Kueng & Lane, BWC at 20:26:07-12.)  After 

learning that Kueng could not find a pulse, Chauvin squeezed Floyd’s fingers.  Floyd did not 

respond.  (Lane, BWC at 20:26:12-18.)  But Chauvin continued to kneel on Floyd’s neck. 

The bystanders’ pleas, meanwhile, grew more frantic:  “He’s not fucking moving.”  

(Thao, BWC at 20:27:11-17.)  “What are you doing?  He’s dying.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:27:35-

36.)  “Why is he still on him?  Y’all see that he’s not . . . what is wrong with you?”  (Thao, BWC 

at 20:27:36-40.)  “Get off of his fucking neck, bro.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:27:41-42.)  “You’re still 
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on him . . . why?”  (Thao, BWC at 20:27:44-46.)  Through it all, Chauvin never attempted to 

place Floyd on his side in the recovery position.  Instead, he continued to press his knee into the 

back of Floyd’s neck, ignoring the crowd’s pleas.  The officers also ignored the off-duty 

firefighter’s plea for them to begin chest compressions.  (Thao, BWC at 20:28:39-48.)  Indeed, 

none of the officers ever attempted CPR while Floyd was on the ground. 

5. At 8:27 p.m., an ambulance arrived on scene.  Chauvin, Kueng, and Lane maintained 

their positions atop Floyd, and Thao continued to block bystanders from intervening.  (Lane & 

Thao, BWC at 20:27:00-24.)  Even as Lane explained to emergency personnel that Floyd was 

“not responsive right now,” Chauvin continued to press his knee into Floyd’s neck.  (Lane, BWC 

at 20:27:36-38.)  And even while emergency personnel leaned down and attempted to check 

Floyd’s neck for a pulse, Chauvin did not remove his knee from Floyd’s neck.  (Lane, BWC at 

20:27:43-50; Darnella Frazier Facebook Video 6:50-59.)   

The crowd, which had grown to nearly a dozen horrified onlookers, continued to plead 

with the officers, asking Thao whether he was “gonna let [Chauvin] kill that man in front of 

you.”  (Thao, BWC at 20:28:05-13.)  Yet the officers continued to maintain their positions:  For 

over a full minute after emergency personnel arrived, Chauvin and Kueng continued to press 

Floyd face-down into the pavement, Lane knelt over Floyd’s legs, and Thao continued to push 

back the crowd.  (Lane, Kueng & Thao, BWC at 20:27:25-20:28:45.)   

At 8:28 p.m., when the stretcher was ready, Chauvin finally removed his knee from 

Floyd’s neck.  (Lane, BWC at 20:28:45.)  Chauvin, Kueng, and Lane then rolled Floyd, who was 

still unresponsive, onto the stretcher and loaded him into the ambulance.  

All told, Floyd was pinned to the ground—with Chauvin’s knee pressing into his neck, 

Kueng and Lane atop his back and legs, and Thao standing watch nearby—for approximately 
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nine minutes.  For over four and a half of those minutes, Floyd was silent.  For at least three of 

those minutes, Floyd appeared not to be breathing.  And for at least two and a half minutes, the 

officers were unable to locate Floyd’s pulse.  After Floyd fell silent, the crowd alerted the 

officers ten times that Floyd was no longer moving, warned them nine times that Floyd was 

unresponsive, and pleaded with them nearly thirty times to check Floyd’s pulse.  But over that 

entire time period, the officers remained in the same position:  Chauvin knelt on Floyd’s neck, 

Kueng and Lane remained atop Floyd’s back and legs, and Thao continued to prevent the crowd 

of concerned citizens from interceding. 

6. Floyd was pronounced dead at the hospital later that evening.  According to the 

Hennepin County Medical Examiner, Floyd’s death resulted from “cardiopulmonary arrest 

complicating law enforcement subdual, restraint, and neck compression,” Hennepin County 

Medical Examiner’s Office, Autopsy Report for George Floyd, at 1 (June 1, 2020) (“Hennepin 

County Autopsy Report”), and the “manner of death” was “homicide,” Hennepin County 

Medical Examiner, Press Release Report (June 1, 2020).  A separate autopsy review by the 

federal Armed Forces Medical Examiner System concluded that Floyd’s “death was caused by 

the police subdual and restraint,” and that the “subdual and restraint had elements of positional 

and mechanical asphyxiation.”  Armed Forces Medical Examiner System, Autopsy Report for 

George Floyd, at 2 (June 10, 2020) (“Armed Forces Medical Examiner Autopsy Report”). 

B. Minneapolis Police Department Policies and Training 

As officers in the Minneapolis Police Department (MPD), Chauvin, Kueng, Lane, and 

Thao held a position of public trust and were trained not to “willfully mistreat or give inhumane 

treatment to any person held in custody.”  MPD Policy & Procedure Manual 5-107.3.  All 

officers agree to abide by a code of ethics that binds them to “enforce the law courteously and 

appropriately” and to “never employ[] unnecessary force or violence.”  Id. at 5-102.     
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“Sanctity of life and the protection of the public” are “the cornerstones of the MPD’s use 

of force policy.”  Id. at 5-301.A.  Consistent with those principles, it is “the duty of every sworn 

employee present at any scene where physical force is being applied to either stop or attempt to stop 

another sworn employee when force is being inappropriately applied or is no longer required.”  Id. 

at 5-303.01(B).4  Officers are also permitted to use only “the amount of force that is objectively 

reasonable in light of the facts and circumstances known to that employee at the time force is 

used,” and their use of force must “be consistent with current MPD training.”  Id. at 5.301.01.  

Before using force, officers are required to consider using various de-escalation tactics short of 

force.  Id. at 5-304(B).  And in evaluating whether the use of force is appropriate, officers must 

“[c]onsider whether a subject’s lack of compliance is a deliberate attempt to resist or an inability 

to comply based on factors including, but not limited to”: (i) medical conditions; (ii) mental 

impairment; (iii) developmental disability; (iv) physical limitation; (v) language barrier; (vi) 

influence of drug or alcohol use; or (vii) behavioral crisis.  Id. at 5-304(B)(1)(b).   

Under MPD policies in effect at the time of Floyd’s death, the most extreme uses of 

force—MRT, Neck Restraints, and Deadly Force—are reserved for the most extreme situations.  

Officers are trained to use the MRT only “where handcuffed subjects are combative and still 

pose a threat to themselves, officers or others, or could cause significant damage to property if 

not properly restrained.”  Id. at 5-316(IV)(A)(1).  “As soon as reasonably possible, any person 

restrained using the MRT who is in the prone position”—that is, on his or her stomach—“shall 

be placed” in “the side recovery position” if “the hobble restraint device is used.”  Id. at 5-

316(IV)(B)(1).  Officers are instructed that, “as soon as possible,” they must “[p]lace a restrained 

                                                 
4 This policy, which was in effect when Floyd died, was subsequently updated on June 16, 2020.   
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subject on their side in order to reduce pressure on his/her chest and facilitate breathing.”  2019 

MPD Use of Force Manual, at 3.   

Officers are also trained not to employ a “neck restraint”—“[d]efined as compressing one 

or both sides of a person’s neck with an arm or leg”—“against subjects who are passively 

resisting.”  MPD Policy & Procedure Manual 5-311(I), (II)(C).  MPD policy defines “passive 

resistance” as “behavior initiated by a subject, when the subject does not comply with verbal or 

physical control efforts, yet the subject does not attempt to defeat an officer’s control efforts.”  

Id. at 5-302.  “An officer who has used a neck restraint or choke hold shall inform” emergency 

medical personnel “accepting custody of the subject[] that the technique was used on the 

subject.”  Id. at 5-311(II)(D)(2).  And if unconsciousness occurs, officers are to “request EMS 

immediately by radio.”  2019 MPD Use of Force Manual, at 2.  

In applying a Neck Restraint, MRT, or any other use of force, officers must render 

medical aid when their use of force necessitates it.  All MPD officers who “use[] force shall,” 

“[a]s soon as reasonably practical,” “determine if anyone was injured and render medical aid 

consistent with training and request Emergency Medical Service (EMS) if necessary.”  MPD 

Policy & Procedure Manual 5-306.5  And they are trained to check the subject’s “airway [and] 

breathing,” and “start CPR if needed.”  2019 MPD Use of Force Manual, at 2, 4.    

ARGUMENT 

As outlined in the State’s September 25 notice, the State intends to introduce evidence of 

18 prior incidents involving Defendants Chauvin, Kueng, and Thao.  The evidence is admissible.   

Minn. R. Evid. 404(b) prohibits the admission of evidence of “another crime, wrong, or 

act” – often called Spreigl  evidence – only if it is offered to “prove the character of a person in 

                                                 
5 This policy, which was in effect when Floyd died, was subsequently updated on July 17, 2020.  
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order to show action in conformity therewith.”6  The rule, however, prohibits admission of such 

evidence only if offered to prove the character of the person to suggest action in conformity 

therewith.  The evidence may be admissible for other purposes, such as to establish motive, 

intent, absence of mistake or accident, identity, modus operandi, or common scheme or plan.  

State v. Bartylla, 755 N.W.2d 8, 20 (Minn. 2008); State v. Ness, 707 N.W.2d 676, 687-88 (Minn. 

2006); Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d at 389; Minn. R. Evid. 404(b).   

A district court has broad discretion in weighing the admissibility of Spreigl evidence.  

State v. Asfeld, 662 N.W.2d 534, 542 (Minn. 2003).  In criminal cases, the evidence is not 

admissible unless: 

1) the prosecutor gives notice of its intent to admit the evidence consistent with 
the rules of criminal procedure; 2) the prosecutor clearly indicates what the 
evidence will be offered to prove; 3) the other crime, wrong, or act and the 
participation in it by a relevant person are proven by clear and convincing 
evidence; 4) the evidence is relevant to the prosecutor’s case; and 5) the probative 
value of the evidence is not outweighed by its potential for unfair prejudice to the 
defendant.  

 

Minn. R. Evid. 404(b).  Each of these requirements has been satisfied here.  The State has given 

notice, and has indicated what the evidence will be offered to prove.  The State will be able to 

prove the conduct by clear and convincing evidence through witnesses identified in the reports 

and, for some of the incidents, body camera video.  The evidence is relevant to prove essential 

elements of the State’s case against the four Defendants and to refute the Defendants’ defenses.  

And the probative value of the evidence is not outweighed by the potential of unfair prejudice to 

the Defendants.  Here, because there cannot be a meaningful dispute as to the first three of these 

                                                 
6 In criminal cases, evidence of another crime, wrong, or act offered under Rule 404(b) is 
commonly referred to as Spreigl evidence because of the supreme court’s opinion in State v. 
Spreigl, 139 N.W.2d 167 (Minn. 1965).  See State v. Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d 385, 389 (Minn. 
1998).   
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requirements, the State focuses primarily on the last two of these requirements – relevance and 

potential prejudice.   

I. The State’s Spreigl evidence is Relevant And Is Offered For A Permissible 
Purpose.   

 
 The threshold question for admissibility of evidence is whether the evidence is relevant.  

State v. Tanksley, 809 N.W.2d 706, 709 (Minn. 2012); Minn. R. Evid. 402.  In the context of 

other act evidence under Rule 404(b), the court must first identify the specific fact to which the 

evidence would be relevant.  State v. Fardan, 773 N.W.2d 303, 317 (Minn. 2009).  It must then 

determine whether the evidence is offered for a permissible purpose, such as to prove motive, 

opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident,” 

rather than to “prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”  

Minn. R. Evid. 404(b).  Here, the State’s Spreigl evidence is plainly relevant in establishing the 

Defendants’ mens rea and in rebutting the Defendants’ reasonable use-of-force defense.  As a 

result, it will be offered for a permissible purpose, not as character evidence.   

A. The disputed facts are elements and defenses.   

Each of the charged offenses contains a state of mind element that will be disputed at 

trial.  For the second-degree unintentional murder, the State will be required to prove that the 

defendant committed a felony offense.  Minn. Stat. § 609.19, subd. 2(1).  The felony offense that 

gives rise to the second-degree murder charge in this case is third-degree assault.  A person is 

guilty of third-degree assault if he “assaults another and inflicts substantial bodily harm.”  Minn. 

Stat. § 609.223, subd. 1.  An assault requires an intentional act that causes bodily harm.  Minn. 

Stat. § 609.02, subd. 10(2); State v. Dorn, 887 N.W.2d 826, 830 (Minn. 2016) (assault-harm 

requires proof of intent to commit the physical act).  The operative state of mind is the intent to 

commit the physical act that causes harm.   
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Liability for third-degree murder arises when a  person “without intent to effect the death 

of any person, causes the death of another by perpetrating an act eminently dangerous to others 

and evincing a depraved mind, without regard for human life. . . .”  Minn. Stat. § 609.195(a).  

The operative state of mind element here is the depraved mind; an awareness that the acts are 

dangerous to others and the person disregarded that risk.  See CRIMJIG 11.38.7   

 The statute governing second-degree manslaughter provides:  “A person who causes the 

death of another . . . by the person’s culpable negligence whereby the person creates an 

unreasonable risk, and consciously takes chances of causing death or great bodily harm to 

another” is “guilty of manslaughter in the second degree.”  Minn. Stat. § 609.205(1).   

Second-degree manslaughter requires proof of (i) “objective gross negligence on the part of the 

actor”; and (ii) “subjective ‘recklessness in the form of an actual conscious disregard of the risk 

created by the conduct.’”  State v. McCormick, 835 N.W.2d 498, 507 (Minn. Ct. App. 2013) 

(quoting State v. Frost, 342 N.W.2d 317, 320 (Minn. 1983)).  The objective gross negligence 

component “is satisfied by demonstrating that the act was ‘a gross deviation from the standard of 

care that a reasonable person would observe in the actor’s situation.’”  Id. (quoting Frost, 342 

N.W.2d at 319).  The subjective recklessness component requires proof of the “actor’s state of 

mind.”  Id.  That is usually established through circumstantial evidence, “by inference from 

words or acts of the actor both before and after the incident.”  Id. (quoting State v. Johnson, 616 

                                                 
7 As the comment to CRIMJIG 11.38 explains, the words “depraved mind” in the statute are “not 
susceptible of definition, except in terms of an ‘eminently dangerous’ act and the lack of regard 
for human life.”  CRIMJIG 11.38 n.2.  And because “the further use of the words ‘depraved 
mind’ is unnecessary and possibly prejudicial,” the model jury instructions do not use them.  Id.  
In State v. Coleman, the court of appeals held that the mens rea element requires that the 
defendant was aware that his conduct created a substantial and unjustifiable risk of death to 
another person and consciously disregarded that risk.  944 N.W.2d 469, 479 (Minn. Ct. App. 
2020), rev. granted (Minn. June 30, 2020).   
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N.W.2d 720, 726 (Minn. 2000)).  In conducting this inquiry, the fact-finder may infer that “a 

person intends the natural and probable consequences of their actions.”  Id. at 507 (quoting 

Johnson, 616 N.W.2d at 726).  The operative state of mind is this subjective recklessness: an 

actual disregard of the objective risks.  But also with regard to the manslaughter charge, the 

evidence is relevant to the objective component: that the act was a gross deviation from a 

reasonable standard of care.   

 Defendants Kueng, Lane, and Thao are charged as accomplices.  “A person is criminally 

liable for a crime committed by another if the person intentionally aids, advises, hires, counsels, 

or conspires with or otherwise procures the other to commit the crime.”  Minn. Stat. § 609.05, 

subd. 1.   The phrase “intentionally aids” encompasses two “important and necessary” mens rea 

elements.  State v. Milton, 821 N.W.2d 789, 805 (Minn. 2012).    

 First, the defendant must know that his “alleged accomplices were going to [commit] or 

were committing a crime.”  State v. Smith, 901 N.W.2d 657, 661 (Minn. Ct. App. 2017) (internal 

quotation mark omitted).  Critically, the defendant does not need to have “knowledge of an 

accomplice’s criminal intent before the crime commences.”  Id. at 662.  Because the statute only 

“requires knowledge of the crime at the time of the acts or presence amounting to aid,” “[a] 

defendant who acquires the requisite knowledge while the accomplice is in the process of 

committing the offense” can be found liable for aiding and abetting.  Id.8   

                                                 

8  To have “knowledge of the crime,” the defendant must know that his accomplice satisfies the 
elements of the crime.  The defendant need not know, however, that his accomplice’s conduct 
was criminal at the time it was committed.  See Minn. Stat. § 609.02, subd. 9(5) (noting that the 
law “does not require proof of knowledge of the existence or constitutionality of the statute 
under which the actor is prosecuted or the scope or meaning of the terms used in that statute”); 
see also 1 Wayne R. LaFave, Substantive Criminal Law § 5.6 (3d ed. 2019 update). 

27-CR-20-12953 Filed in District Court
State of Minnesota

10/12/2020 4:30 PM



20 

 Second, the defendant must “intend[] his presence or actions to further the commission of 

that crime.”  Milton, 821 N.W.2d at 808 (internal quotation mark omitted).  In other words, the 

defendant must “make[] the choice to aid in its commission either through [his] presence or [his] 

actions.”  Smith, 901 N.W.2d at 662.  “[A]ctive participation in the overt act which constitutes 

the substantive offense,” however, “is not required.”  State v. Ostrem, 535 N.W.2d 916, 924 

(Minn. 1995).  In evaluating the defendant’s intent, the jury may properly “infer the requisite 

state of mind for accomplice liability through circumstantial evidence,” including, for example, 

“the defendant’s presence at the scene of the crime” or “a close association with the principal 

offender before and after the crime.”  State v. McAllister, 862 N.W.2d 49, 53 (Minn. 2015).   

 Accordingly, to establish accomplice liability for Kueng, Lane, and Thao, the State will 

have to prove that Chauvin committed the charged crimes and that each co-defendant knew that 

Chauvin was intentionally committing that crime and intentionally aided in the commission of 

that crime.   

 Finally, it is fully anticipated that the defendants will argue the reasonable use of force as 

a defense.  Minnesota law allows police officers to use reasonable force in performing lawful 

duties.  Minn. Stat. § 609.06, subd. 1(1).  Whether the force used was reasonable is determined 

by evaluating a totality of the circumstances.  Graham v. Connor, 490 U.S. 386, 396 (1989).  The 

Minneapolis Police requires that any force applied be reasonable in accord with these standards.  

MPD Policy & Procedure Manual 5-303.  Thus, an operative element at trial will be whether the 

force the officers used was reasonable under the totality of circumstances.   

B. The evidence is relevant to those disputed elements.   

As noted above, Rule 404(b) generally excludes evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts 

“to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.”  The rule is 
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a specific application of Rule 403’s requirement of balancing the probative value of evidence 

against its unfair prejudice, adding that regardless of the balancing of those concepts the 

evidence is not admissible when its relevance is simply the bad character of the criminal 

defendant.  It is based on the recognition that evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts may fit 

the technical definition of relevance – that is, the evidence may tend to show that the person 

committed the charged crime – but that limited probative value is far outweighed by the potential 

unfair prejudice to the defendant.  See Michelson v. United States, 335 U.S. 469, 475-76 (1948); 

Spreigl, 139 N.W.2d at 172 (quoting 1 Wigmore, Evidence (3d ed.) §§ 193, 194).  That prejudice 

arises from the concerns that the jury will use the evidence to believe that the defendant has a 

mere propensity to commit crimes apart from any relevance to the charged crime or that the 

defendant is a proper candidate for punishment because of other crimes in their past.  See, e.g., 

Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 685; Spreigl, 139 N.W.2d at 172.  When offered for these purposes, its 

relevance is only for an improper purpose; “inferring propensity from character.”  State v. 

Frisinger, 484 N.W.2d 27, 32 (Minn. 1992).  In State v. Wermerskirchen, the supreme court 

referred to the “improper purpose of showing the defendant was a bad person in order to raise an 

inference that he acted in conformity with his bad character or to persuade the jury to convict on 

some improper basis.”  497 N.W.2d 235, 241-42 (Minn. 1993).   

But when the evidence has probative value and relevance other than for these improper 

purposes, it’s admission is not barred by Rule 404(b).9  The supreme court has long recognized 

at common law “various exceptions to this general exclusionary rule” of evidence of other 

crimes, wrongs, or acts where the evidence is not offered for this improper purpose.  Ness, 707 

                                                 
9 In Wermerskirchen, the supreme court noted that Rule 404(b) is a “specific application of the 
‘rule of multiple admissibility’” – evidence that may not be admissible for one purpose should 
not be excluded if it is properly admissible for some other purpose.  497 N.W.2d at 239-40.   
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N.W.2d at 685.10  Under these exceptions, evidence of other crimes or acts may be admitted for 

the proper purposes.  Id.   

One of these exceptions is the common scheme or plan, which includes evidence of a 

common modus operandi in the other acts and the charged crime to prove the charged crime and 

disprove defenses.  Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 687-88; Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d at 391; State v. Rainer, 

411 N.W.2d 490, 497 (Minn. 1987); Spreigl, 139 N.W.2d at 170.  This proper purpose of the 

evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts applies when the other crimes, wrongs, or acts are 

“substantially similar to the charged offense” in terms of time, place, and modus operandi.  

Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d at 390.  While the other crimes, wrongs, or acts do not need to be identical 

in every way to the charged crime, they must be markedly similar.  Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 688.   

To satisfy the marked similarity requirement, the Spreigl acts need not be a “signature” 

crime, State v. Blom, 682 N.W.2d 578, 612 (Minn. 2004), nor does it need to be identical in 

every way to the charged crime.  Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 688; Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d at 391.  

Evidence that a criminal defendant committed other acts in a manner markedly similar to the 

conduct in question is relevant to proving the crime in question, including refuting similar 

defenses.  See, e.g., Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 687-88; State v. Robinson, 427 N.W.2d 217, 227 

(Minn. 1988); State v. Morrison, 310 N.W.2d 135, 137 (Minn. 1981); State v. Makela, 309 

N.W.2d 295, 298 (Minn. 1981).  When the defendant’s other crimes or acts are markedly similar 

to the charged crime, the evidence of the other crimes or acts establishes a modus operandi that is 

relevant to proving the charged crime.  Robinson, 427 N.W.2d at 227 (holding the other crimes 

evidence was admissible because the “evidence shows a pattern of operation.”)  The evidence of 

                                                 
10 Technically speaking, of course, these are not exceptions to the rule.  Rather, if the evidence is 
offered for a legitimate purpose, rather than the “forbidden purpose of inferring propensity from 
character,” Rule 404(b) does not apply at all.  Frisinger, 484 N.W.2d at 32.   
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markedly similar crimes is relevant to corroborate the commission of the charged crime and to 

disprove or refute defenses because it establishes this common modus operandi.  State v. Welle, 

870 N.W.2d 360, 364-65; Ness, 707 N.W.2d at 688.   

Another proper purpose of such evidence is to prove knowledge.  See State v. Coleman, 

944 N.W.2d 469, 481-82 (Minn. Ct. App. 2020), rev. granted (Minn. June 30, 2020).  For 

example, in Coleman the defendant was charged with third-degree “depraved mind” murder after 

he consumed alcohol and drove his snowmobile at a high rate of speed on a frozen lake and 

killed a child and seriously injured the child’s father.  944 N.W.2d at 474-75.  One element of the 

depraved mind murder charge is the defendant’s awareness that their conduct “created a 

substantial and unjustifiable risk to human life.”  Id. at 479.  The court of appeals upheld the 

admission of Coleman’s previous alcohol-related offense because it was “relevant to Coleman’s 

knowledge of the dangers of driving while intoxicated.”  Id. at 481.   

Another proper purpose for such evidence is to prove the person’s intent.  Fardan, 773 

N.W.2d at 317.  In Fardan, a murder prosecution, evidence that somebody with Fardan had fired 

the gun earlier in the evening was properly admitted to prove Fardan intentionally fired the gun 

in the murder.  Id. at 318.  In this context, the evidence can also be relevant to the state of mind 

requirement by rebutting a defense.  See State v. Grilli, 230 N.W.2d 445, 450-51 (Minn. 1975).  

The court in Grilli held that evidence of other drug sales was admissible to prove predisposition 

in rebuttal of the entrapment defense.  The evidence related to the intent statutory element 

because the essence of the entrapment defense is the claim that the defendant had no intent to 

commit the crime until the government entrapped him.  Id. at 451.   

1.  The March 15, 2014 incident.  Chauvin was working off-duty at the Midtown Global 

Market.  At about 12:30 p.m., security guards there notified Chauvin that two males had been 

27-CR-20-12953 Filed in District Court
State of Minnesota

10/12/2020 4:30 PM



24 

drinking alcohol in the men’s restroom and the males were “escorted from the property.”  About 

four hours later, a security guard notified Chauvin that a male was sleeping near one of the 

restaurants.  Chauvin recognized the male as one of the men who had been escorted from the 

property earlier.  Chauvin woke the male, and began walking the male to his squad car with the 

intention of taking the male to detox.   

As they walked outside the building, the male “pulled his arm forcefully away from” 

Chauvin, and Chauvin grabbed the male’s jacket sleeve and pulled the male toward him.  The 

male then spun around and fell forward on the sidewalk, landing with his “left arm out and his 

right arm tucked under his body.”  Chauvin used his radio to call for an ambulance and a 

supervisor.  According to his report, Chauvin “told [the male] to put his hands behind his back 

and used body weight against his upper body/head area to control his movements.”  Chauvin 

then put a handcuff on the male’s left wrist and “was able to move him around to handcuff his 

other wrist.”  Chauvin then sat the male up.  The male sustained an injury to his forehead that 

was bleeding.  Bates 26570.   

Evidence of this incident is relevant to Chauvin’s knowledge and intent and to rebut his 

claim of reasonable force.  In the present case, Chauvin placed his knees on George Floyd’s neck 

and arm while Floyd was already handcuffed, for a long time after Mr. Floyd presented any 

resistance, and for many minutes after Floyd stopped moving at all.  The state has to prove that 

Chauvin’s conduct constituted an assault, which is an intentional act that causes bodily harm.  

Chauvin committed intentional acts by pinning Floyd prone to the ground with his body weight 

with the assistance of the three other officers.  Bodily injury is more than apparent from Mr. 

Floyd’s repeatedly saying that he was in pain and could not breathe until he stopped breathing.  

In defense, Chauvin will argue that he used reasonable force to subdue Mr. Floyd.  Chauvin’s 
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knowledge that the use of force was unreasonable helps establish Chauvin’s intent to commit an 

assault.  Chauvin’s knowledge of his proper use of force – proved through prior incidents when 

he did so – rebuts his claim of reasonable force.   

 That the use of other acts to prove knowledge and intent in this case is proper is equally 

apparent for the third-degree murder statute, as that requires proof of the person’s knowledge 

that their conduct created a substantial and unjustifiable risk to human life.  Coleman, 944 

N.W.2d at 479.  Likewise, an element of the manslaughter charge is that the person has 

consciously disregarded the risk created by their conduct.  McCormick, 835 N.W.2d at 507.   

 In the March 15, 2014 incident, Chauvin decided to forcefully remove an intoxicated 

male from private property to take him to a detox facility.  Chauvin got into a physical struggle 

with the male, forced him to the ground, and placed his body weight on the male to get him 

handcuffed.  Once the male was handcuffed, Chauvin allowed the male to move from the prone 

position to a seated position.  The incident is relevant to show Chauvin’s knowledge that the 

reasonable use of force is to remove body weight from the person and move the person from the 

prone position to a seated position once they are in handcuffs and are not actively resisting.  This 

incident is also relevant to show Chauvin’s knowledge of the risk to human life by keeping his 

body weight on Mr. Floyd long after he was handcuffed and stopped moving for the third-degree 

murder statute as well as his conscious disregard of the risk to human life by his conduct.  It also 

demonstrates the objective element of a deviation from the standard of care for the manslaughter 

statute.   

 2.  The February 15, 2015 incident.  While working off-duty at the El Nuevo Rodeo 

nightclub, Chauvin confronted a male who was trying to re-enter the nightclub area after closing 

time.  The male refused to leave, so Chauvin took ahold of the male’s right elbow and tried to 
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direct him towards the exit stairwell.  The male yelled that Chauvin was trying to push him down 

the stairs, although they were still three feet from the stairwell according to Chauvin.  Two other 

males then tried to calm the first male and even said “sorry” to Chauvin as they walked the first 

male to the stairs.  After getting partway down the stairs, the male produced a coat check 

medallion and Chauvin gave it to security to retrieve the male’s coat.  Bates 26581-82.   

 Once at the bottom of the stairs, the male was directed to leave the establishment.  The 

male yelled “racist white bitch” and other curse words as his friends tried to get him to leave.  

The male refused to leave and also stated: “What are you going to do, arrest me?”  According to 

his report, Chauvin “believed that [the male] would continue to refuse to leave the area and 

continue to cause anger or alarm in those involved” and told the male “he was under arrest and 

for him to place his hands behind his back.”  The male did put his hands behind his back, but 

when Chauvin grabbed him to “get him into a handcuffing position,” the male “immediately 

pulled his left arm toward his front and attempted to spin around to face [Chauvin].”  According 

to Chauvin’s report, Chauvin then “attempted to move him back away from me by applying 

pressure toward his Lingual Artery which is located below his chin bone.”  Chauvin repeated 

“several more times” that the male was under arrest and to put his hands behind his back.  

Chauvin characterized the male as a “large individual” with a “muscular type build,” later noting 

that the male’s driver’s license listed him as 6’1” tall and weighing 250 pounds.  Believing that 

the male was displaying “active resistance” to efforts to take him into custody, Chauvin 

attempted to move around him while the male “was pressed against a wall to escalate force levels 

to gain compliance” from the male.  Chauvin then applied “a neck restraint to [the male] and 

applied pressure.”  The male did not comply with “verbal direction” to place his hands behind 

his back and was still yelling, so Chauvin “pulled [the male] to the ground and was rolled on 
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onto his stomach and place [sic] in handcuffs with the assistance of other security staff.”  

Chauvin used his radio to request additional squads and a supervisor.  During that time, several 

males approached Chauvin and asked if they could take the male home; Chauvin told them to 

“back away from us.”  Bates 26582.   

 Chauvin kept the male “on his stomach due to his uncooperative behavior until further 

assistance could be given.”  Chauvin told the male to “roll over onto his backside so he could be 

stood up,” and the male was “then stood up and walked over to [his] squad car.”  Chauvin 

directed the male to sit in the backseat, but the male kept yelling and put his foot up against the 

door frame and pushed back.  The male had to be “pulled inside by his arms and was laying on 

his back across the seat.”  Bates 26582.   

 Evidence of this incident is admissible under the common scheme or plan because it is 

markedly similar in regards to Chauvin’s unreasonable use of force.  In this incident, Chauvin 

tried to take an intoxicated male into custody.  Believing that the male was actively resisting 

because he would not permit handcuffing, Chauvin applied pressure to the male’s neck, then 

pushed the male against a wall, and applied a neck restraint.  Chauvin then forced the male to the 

floor in a prone position.  Despite being able to handcuff the male, Chauvin kept the male in the 

prone position until other officers could arrive.   

 This evidence demonstrates the common method Chauvin employs when dealing with 

individuals larger than himself who may be intoxicated.  He does not use reasonable force in 

such incidents.  The common scheme purpose is relevant to demonstrate how a defendant acts to 

situations or classes of people in a similar way.  For example, in State v. Berry, the supreme 

court upheld the admission of three prior assaults in a first-degree murder case, holding that 

“[e]ach of the three incidents is relevant because of the similarity of the way [Berry] behaved 
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when trying to maintain control of the people with whom he worked.  If he thought someone had 

snitched on him, Berry resorted to threats and to acts of violence against that person.”  484 

N.W.2d 14, 17 (Minn. 1992).  Further, in Rainer, the supreme court upheld the admission of 

Rainer’s six past incidents of violence toward women in a first-degree murder case, recognizing 

that the evidence was presented to disprove his assertion that the gun’s discharge was accidental 

and, in each prior instance, Rainer responded to jealousy or anger with violence.  411 N.W.2d at 

497.  Thus, the evidence showed “a repeating pattern of very similar conduct not merely a 

propensity toward violence.”  Id.; see also State v. DeBaere, 356 N.W.2d 301, 305 (Minn. 1984) 

(upholding admission of other act evidence where “[t]he other-crime evidence showed a pattern 

of similar aggressive sexual behavior by defendant against other women in the community”).   

 This incident shows a common way of dealing with suspected intoxicated people who 

Chauvin believes are not perfectly complying with his demands.  Rather than using reasonable 

force, Chauvin applies his body weight to hold the person in the prone position until transferring 

the person to somebody else, regardless of the reasonableness of the force used against the 

person.  This evidence therefore shows “a repeating pattern of very similar conduct,” Rainer, 411 

N.W.2d at 497, and demonstrates that his use of force was not reasonable.   

 3.  The August 22, 2015 incident.  Officers were dispatched on a call about a possible 

emotionally disturbed person who was screaming in an apartment building.  When officers 

arrived, they observed the male in an enclosed porch area “screaming in an unknown gibberish 

language foreign to officers.”  The male would walk from the porch area to the main living area 

and back, continually screaming.  The male was unresponsive to the officers, “with a flat affect 

on his face and appearing to be completely unaware of his surroundings.”  Bates 26592.   
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 Other officers arrived, including Chauvin.  Chauvin observed that the male “was yelling 

and making sounds that did not sound like actual language” and “was clenching his fists as he 

stood up and was not wearing a shirt.”  Chauvin took up a position at the front door as other 

officers arrived.  Bates 26590.   

 A sergeant arrived, and after other officers briefed him, the sergeant concluded that the 

male was “a danger to himself and to others” and authorized a forced entry into the apartment.  

When the officers entered the apartment, the male retreated to a bathroom in the rear of the 

apartment.  The bathroom was very small and the bathtub was full of water.  As the officers 

commanded the male to exit the bathroom, the “male was clenching his fists and standing in a 

fighting stance towards the bathroom mirror as he continued an unknown biblical style chant.”  

Bates 26590.  An officer told the male several times to come out of the bathroom and lie on the 

ground, but the male would “just yell and talk gibberish.”  An officer moved toward the male 

and told him to get on the ground or the officer would deploy his Taser.  The officer told the 

male he would count to three and then deploy the Taser, but after the officer counted to three, the 

male still did not comply; the male “just stood there yelling, flexing all of his muscles with his 

fists clenched.”  Bates 26591.   

 The sergeant ordered an officer to use his Taser on the male because of “the confines of 

the bathroom, the males [sic] demeanor, the bath tub that was full of water, the fact that the male 

was not wearing any clothing other than boxers, and his muscular build, as well as other factors.”  

The officer deployed his Taser on the male, which appeared to have little affect even after 

“several cycles.”  Bates 26590, 26591.  Chauvin observed that Taser had “very little effect” on 

the male.  Bates 26590.   
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 The officer then grabbed the male and tried to take him to the ground.  The male “tensed 

up every muscle in his body and started resisting officers and refused to go to the ground.”  One 

officer grabbed the male’s arm and tried to force the male to the ground, but the officer slipped 

on the wet floor and fell.  Other officers joined in and were eventually able to get the male 

handcuffed.  Bates 26591-92.   

 According to the sergeant, after “a minute long struggle, Officers and I were able to place 

the male into handcuffs.  The male was then immediately placed in the rescue position and 

ambulance and rescue were requested code 3.”  Bates 26590.  Another officer noted that the male 

“was eventually handcuffed and placed on his side and kept in that position until paramedics 

arrived.”  Bates 26593.  The sergeant noted that the “male was so excited that he was chemically 

sedated by on scene paramedics for his own safety.”  Chauvin observed as the officer used his 

Taser on the male “and secured after a struggle with the male.”  Chauvin described the male as 

being in an “extremely agitated state.”  Bates 26590.   

 The next day, the sergeant submitted a recommendation for a Lifesaving Award for the 

officers involved in the incident, including Chauvin.  The sergeant had learned from hospital 

staff that the male’s condition could have turned fatal if the officers had not taken the necessary 

steps to get the male to the hospital safely, and that the male’s “elevated cardiac condition could 

have been fatal if officers on scene would have prolonged the detention or if they would have 

done nothing at all.”  The sergeant noted that “Officer Bjork placed the male in the rescue 

position where he was monitored by Officer [sic] Merrill, Dean and Chauvin until medical 

arrived.”  Bates 3746-47.   

 Evidence of this incident is relevant to proving Chauvin’s knowledge about the 

importance and propriety of moving a handcuffed person from the prone position to the “rescue 
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position” and his intent for the assault.  See supra at 24-25.  It demonstrates his knowledge of 

reasonable force, especially given that a peer recommended an award for the officers’ conduct. It 

also demonstrates his intent to commit an assault because in this incident he was commended for 

moving the person into the “rescue position” but did not move George Floyd into the “rescue 

position,” he instead held him in the prone position with the body weight of three officers on him 

long after George Floyd was motionless and non-responsive.  It also demonstrates his deviation 

from the objective standard of care for the manslaughter statute.  Finally, it shows his knowledge 

that failing to move somebody into the recovery position is unreasonable and carries with it a 

serious risk of harm.   

 4.  The April 22, 2016 incident.  Chauvin was working off-duty at the Midtown Global 

Market.  Security guards at the property advised Chauvin of a male who had threatened one of 

the security guards and was refusing to leave the premises.  The male continued to threaten the 

security guard even as Chauvin stood there, and the male refused to leave.  Chauvin escorted the 

male out of the building and told the male he was not to return to the property or he would be 

arrested.  The male stated he did not care about being arrested, as he would be out by Monday 

anyway, and continued to threaten to spit on the victim.  Bates 26606.   

 Because of the male’s multiple threats, Chauvin “feared [the male] would immediately go 

back inside the property to assault or attempt to spit on” the victim, so Chauvin “closed distance 

with [the male] and secured his neck/head area with [his] hands with one front and one toward 

the rear.”  Chauvin then applied pressure to “the sides” of the male and forced him backwards on 

to the sidewalk.  While the male kept yelling, security guards assisted in handcuffing the male, 

“who was generally on his right side.”  The male was then “stood up and he started yelling his 

information toward a small crowd of white males and females who had approached on the 
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sidewalk that were possibly videotaping.”  Chauvin then walked the male to his squad car, called 

for a supervisor to come to the scene, and “also requested an ambulance to check on [the male] 

since he claimed to have asthma.”  The male later refused medical attention.  Bates 26606.   

 Evidence of this incident is relevant to a common scheme or plan through modus 

operandi.  See supra at 27-28.  This incident is markedly similar in that Chauvin was confronting 

a person he did not believe was following Chauvin’s commands, so Chauvin used a neck 

restraint to subdue the individual.  Again, Chauvin used force beyond that which was necessary 

to restrain an individual.   

 5.  The June 25, 2017 incident.  Chauvin was dispatched to a domestic assault call.  The 

victim reported to Chauvin and another officer that she had gotten into an argument with her 

adult daughter, who may have been intoxicated, and her daughter then tried to strangle her with 

an extension cord.  The victim reported that her daughter had left the residence.  While speaking 

with the victim, a female entered the back door and the victim identified the female has the 

daughter who had assaulted her.  Chauvin told the female to put out her cigarette and that she 

was under arrest.  As the female walked past the officers, Chauvin grabbed her left arm and the 

other officer grabbed one of her arms as well.  The female pulled her arms away and turned to 

face the officers.  The other officer pushed her chest against the wall.  Chauvin put a handcuff on 

the female’s left wrist.  According to Chauvin, the female “kept twisting her body and trying to 

pull her arms in front of her,” so he “pulled her down to floor face first and kneeled on her to pin 

her body so we could finish handcuffing her.”  The two officers were able to fully handcuff her 

at that time.  Bates 27883, 27884.   

 Chauvin then told the female to stand up, but she did not.  As they tried to get her to stand 

and walk out, the female dragged her feet on the ground and at one point hooked her foot behind 
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a television stand.  The two officers carried the female through and outside the house.  Bates 

27883, 27884.  The body worn camera video shows the officers carried her face down, with her 

hands cuffed behind her back, by the arms and feet while other family members were in the 

home.  Once outside the house, the officers placed her face down on the ground.  In Chauvin’s 

report, he wrote that she was “set down on the grass near the sidewalk in front of the house.”  

Bates 27883.  In the other officer’s report, he wrote that the female was “placed safely onto the 

grass.”  Bates 27884.  But the body camera video shows that the officers placed her face down 

mostly on the cement sidewalk.  Chauvin wrote in  his report that he “kept body weight” on the 

female to “pin” her down while the other officer moved the squad car closer.  The body worn 

camera video shows that Chauvin kneeled on the female’s back during this time, even though she 

was offering no physical resistance at all.  Chauvin directed the other officer to apply a Hobble 

restraint around her wrists and ankles even though the female was not being physically 

aggressive.  The body worn camera video shows that Chauvin directed the other officer to apply 

the Hobble restraint in the “hog-tie” position, and Chauvin can be heard saying “perfect.”  After 

applying the Hobble restraint, the officers placed the female in the back seat of the squad car on 

her side.  Bates 27883, 27884, 26427.   

 In his report, Chauvin indicated that the female was 5’6” tall with a “LI” build.11  For the 

field requesting the “Type of Resistance Encountered,” Chauvin entered “Commission of 

Crime.”  Bates 27880.   

 This evidence is relevant to common scheme or plan through modus operandi.  See supra 

at 27-28.  In this incident, Chauvin told the woman she was under arrest and then grabbed her as 

                                                 
11 It is not clear from the report what “LI” means, but it is clear from the body camera video that 
the female was very thin and of slight build.   
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she walked by.  When she did not fully comply, Chauvin and the other officer forced her to the 

ground to handcuff her.  Chauvin used his body weight to pin her to the ground while she was 

handcuffed.  When she did not voluntarily walk out of the house, Chauvin picked her up by the 

arms and carried her out of the house.  The only resistance she offered was dragging her feet on 

the ground and briefly hooking a foot behind the television stand.  The other officer picked up 

her legs.  When they got her out of the house, Chauvin placed her in the prone position on the 

sidewalk and kneeled on her back.  Chauvin also directed the other officer to hog tie her.  All this 

despite the fact that the female was not making any threats at the officers and was not physically 

aggressive in the least towards the officers.  This is entirely consistent with Chauvin’s behavior 

towards Mr. Floyd, who was fully handcuffed and offering little to no physical aggression 

toward the officers.  It shows a common way of acting to people he believes may be intoxicated 

and takes into custody and who show any level of noncompliance: Chauvin disregards any 

consideration of the circumstances for determining the reasonable amount of force and simply 

fully restrains the person until he can turn them over to somebody else without regard to their 

well-being.   

 In this way, the incident also demonstrates his intent to assault Mr. Floyd and to rebut his 

reasonable use of force defense.  It shows Chauvin does not consider circumstances at all when 

deciding how much force to use and simply holds such arrestees in the prone position, even to 

the point of hog-tying the person, to restrain them.   

 6.  The September 4, 2017 incident.  Chauvin was dispatched to a domestic assault call.  

The alleged victim told the officers that she had been assaulted by her two minor children, a son 

and daughter.  The officers located the juvenile male laying on the floor in the back of the house.  

The officers advised the juvenile male that he was under arrest, but he did not comply with 
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commands and directions from the officers.  According to Chauvin, the juvenile male “then 

displayed active resistance to efforts to take him into custody” by “flailing his arms around.”  

The juvenile male, whom Chauvin described as “approximately 6’2” and at least 240 pounds,” 

backed himself into a corner and “stretched his legs forward.”  Chauvin attempted to grab the 

juvenile male’s arms, but he would “continue to struggle and flail his arms around.”  In his 

report, Chauvin wrote that he believed the juvenile male would “escalate his efforts to not be 

arrested,” and because of the juvenile male’s large size, Chauvin “deliver[ed] a few strikes to 

[the juvenile male] to impact his shoulders and hopefully allow control to be obtained.”  Chauvin 

believed the juvenile male was “still providing active resistance,” but another officer was able to 

get one handcuff on the juvenile male.  As the male kept pulling his arms in front of his body, 

Chauvin “applied a neck restraint,” and then was “able to roll [the juvenile male] onto his 

stomach and grab his left wrist so that cuffing could be completed.”  Chauvin then “used body 

weight to pin [the juvenile male] to the floor.”  During this time, the alleged victim came into the 

room and yelled at the officers.  The juvenile male had blood coming from his left ear, so the 

officers requested an ambulance.  Paramedics determined that the juvenile male needed stitches, 

and he was transported to the Hennepin County Medical Center.  Bates 26632-33.   

 This incident is relevant to common scheme or plan through modus operandi.  See supra 

at 27-28.  This is another incident in which Chauvin believed the person was not adequately 

complying with his commands, so he applied a neck restraint and then held the person to the 

floor with his body weight.  The struggle and restraint was of such a nature that the male had 

blood coming from his ear and the alleged assault victim yelled at the officers.   

 7.  The March 12, 2019 incident.  Chauvin and another officer were speaking with a 

citizen about a stolen vehicle report.  A male unrelated to the conversation approached the 
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officers and asked for a ride.  The officers told him they were busy and would talk with him 

later.  The male initially backed away, but then approached again and demanded a ride.  As the 

man was pacing around with his hands in his pockets, the other officer directed the male to 

remove his hands from his pockets, but the male refused.  The male again walked up to them, 

and Chauvin told the male to back away.  The male said “don’t tell me what to do, what are you 

talking about bro” and did not move away.  Bates 25828.   

 The body worn camera video shows that Chauvin then walked directly at the male and 

grabbed him.  The male began to pull away and “flail his arms wildly.”  In a struggle with the 

other officer, the male’s sweatshirt was pulled off.  Chauvin delivered a burst of mace towards 

the male’s face and the other officer told the male to get onto his stomach or he would be 

“tazed.”  The male went down to his knees, but would not go further, so Chauvin “applied a neck 

restraint to help control” the male.  Chauvin told the other officer to secure one of the male’s 

arms.  Although Chauvin was having difficulty seeing because of the burst of mace, Chauvin 

was still “able to direct [the male] face down on the ground and pin[] him down by sitting on his 

lower back area.”  The officers then placed handcuffs on the male.  Bates 25824, 25828.  The 

body worn camera video shows that Chauvin placed his right knee on the male’s lower back and 

his left knee on the ground alongside the male’s left arm.  Shortly thereafter, two other officers 

kneeled on the male’s upper body and waist area while the male physically struggled, and when 

the male tried to rise up, the officer twisted his ankles and pulled his legs up.  The officer who 

had kneeled on the male’s upper back area then got off the male’s body.  After the male stopped 

kicking his legs and trying to rise up, the officers allowed him to roll on his side and eventually 

sit up.   
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 This incident is relevant to common scheme or plan through modus operandi.  See supra 

at 27-28.  Chauvin initiated contact with the male when the male disregarded Chauvin’s 

command and verbally challenged Chauvin.  This started a physical confrontation in which 

Chauvin applied a neck restraint, forced the male to the ground, and placed his own body weight 

on top of the male to restrain him.  Similar to his conduct with Mr. Floyd, Chauvin placed his 

right knee on the male’s back and his left knee near the male’s left arm.   

 8.  The July 6, 2019 incident.  Officers were dispatched to a domestic disturbance 

involving weapons.  The officers received information that the adult male suspect had poured 

gasoline all over the home, was screaming at his mother, and had a knife.  A caller also reported 

that the male was emotionally disturbed.  Chauvin enter the home with his gun drawn and 

immediately smelled the odor of gasoline.  Chauvin also saw a male standing in the living room, 

and a female sitting nearby identified the male as the suspect.  Chauvin pointed his gun at the 

male and told him to turn around.  When the male did not turn around, Chauvin approached him.  

Bates 25863.   

 The male raised his hands briefly and then dropped them down.  Chauvin tried to grab the 

male’s right arm while holstering his weapon, and then “delivered a single kick to [the male’s] 

lower midsection to back him up as he had not been searched for a knife.”  In addition, Chauvin 

did not want to allow the male to reach for the scissors and other sharp objects on a nearby table.  

Chauvin gave verbal commands to get his hands back and the male “started to tense,” so 

Chauvin “applied a neck restraint to [the male] and had to reposition.”  Chauvin told the male to 

get his hands behind his back.  Another officer was able to get a cuff on the male’s left arm.  

Chauvin heard the male “make a brief snoring noise,” and during the “brief time [the male] was 

27-CR-20-12953 Filed in District Court
State of Minnesota

10/12/2020 4:30 PM



38 

rendered unconscious [Chauvin] brought his right arm back so he could be handcuffed.”   

Bates 25863.   

 In his report, Chauvin wrote: “With the reported involvement of a knife, the gasoline 

poured inside the house by a reported EDP, I didn’t believe lower level techniques would have 

been effective in immediately rendering the scene safe for [the victim] and ourselves.”  Bates. 

25863.  In an interview later with a supervisor, Chauvin stated that he believed the male lost 

consciousness.  Chauvin added that the male was placed in the recovery position and came to.  

Bates 25868.   

 This incident is relevant to proving knowledge and intent.  See supra at 24-25.  This 

demonstrates that Chauvin had knowledge of the recovery position and that a person should be 

placed in that position, rather than left prone on the ground.  Even though the male only briefly 

lost consciousness while Chauvin was trying to handcuff him, Chauvin told his sergeant that he 

placed the male in the recovery position and the male recovered.  Here, by contrast, Chauvin did 

not place Floyd in the recovery position, even after Floyd lost consciousness and stopped 

breathing.  This incident is also relevant to the objective standard in the manslaughter statute 

because it demonstrates that Chauvin’s actions in kneeling on Floyd’s neck and in failing to 

move him into the recovery position deviated from the appropriate standard of care.   

 This incident is also relevant to common scheme or plan through modus operandi.  See 

supra at 27-28.  This is another incident in which Chauvin applied a neck restraint to render a 

person unconscious so that Chauvin could restrain him.   

 9.  The December 23-24, 2019 incident.  Just before midnight on December 23, 2019, 

officers received a call of an assault at the VFW.  When officers arrived, the male victim was not 

there.  Just after midnight, the officers received another call that the male victim was at a nearby 
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intersection.  Officers went to that location and observed the male standing in the street.  The 

male had blood coming from his nose and was on the phone.  As one officer got closer to him, 

the male started yelling and walked away.  According to that officer, the male “seemed to want 

to be combative,” appeared intoxicated, and was “yelling curse words.”  As the two squad cars 

drove off, the male jumped into the street and tried to kick one of the squad cars.  The same 

officer noted that the male “appeared that he wanted to be combative towards officers and was 

yelling.”  The officers observed as the male walked into the VFW.  Bates 25903.   

 Shortly after, the officers received a call of an unwanted male at the VFW.  As defendant 

Kueng and officers approached the VFW, they saw a group coming out of the VFW which 

included the male they had previously encountered (the officers recognized him partly because 

of his Vikings sweater).  The officers then saw the male throwing punches at another male and 

employees of the VFW broke up the scuffle and restrained the male.  Bates 25903.   

 The employees of the VFW took the male into the entryway of the VFW and the officers 

assisted with restraining the male.  Specifically, Kueng and the other officers grabbed the male 

and put him on the ground.  Bates 25907, 25904.  The male was “still yelling and screaming, 

saying he was ‘army’ and a ‘combat vet,” which caused one of the officers to think that the male 

knew how to fight and was not afraid to.  Bates 25904.  While on the ground, the male would not 

listen to commands and provide his hands for cuffing, so one officer “delivered a series of knee 

strikes to his torso” and then they were able to get the male handcuffed.  The officers then held 

the male on the ground “with [their] body weight” as the male “continued to yell, kick his feet 

and flop around whenever [the officers] tried sitting him up.”  Bates 25904.  Another officer 

described it this way: “I placed my knee on [the male’s] back and on the back of his neck and 

used my body weight to pin [the male] to the ground so he could be placed in handcuffs, as he 
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was resisting officers [sic] attempts to handcuff him by moving his arms.”  Bates 25905.  The 

officers kept the male on the ground so as to prevent injury to the male until he was escorted to a 

squad car.  Bates 25904.   

 In the summary portion of his report, Kueng described the male as “a person in crisis” 

and that the male was “aggressive” before being placed in handcuffs.  Bates 25906.  The body 

worn camera videos show that the male was physically resisting and yelling at the officers as 

they tried to handcuff him.  The videos also show that once they got the male handcuffed, the 

officers briefly got off the male.  The male then tried to kick at the officers and get up, so the 

officers restrained him again with their body weight.  However, as soon as the male stopped any 

physical activity, the officers allowed him to move into a sitting position.  Bates 34286.   

 This incident is relevant to knowledge and intent.  See supra at 24-25.  This demonstrates 

that Kueng knew, even with an intoxicated male who was physically threatening and aggressive 

with officers, the proper procedure is to move the person from the prone position to a side or 

sitting position.  This is relevant in establishing Kueng intended to assault Floyd while holding 

down his body in the prone position as Floyd repeatedly said that he was in pain and could not 

breathe.  It also demonstrates his knowledge that Chauvin was likewise committing an assault, 

which is a necessary element in order to prove that Kueng aided and abetted second-degree 

murder.  This incident also demonstrates that Kueng deviated from the reasonable standard of 

care, as is necessary for the second-degree manslaughter statute, and that he knew Chauvin was 

deviating from the reasonable standard of care, as is necessary for aiding and abetting second-

degree manslaughter.   

 10-18.  Incidents 10 to 18 all involve the work of Defendant Thao as a police officer.  

Incidents 10 through 17 occurred from April through July of 2012 when Thao was working with 
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a Field Training Officer (FTO), and are memorialized in reports by his FTO criticizing his 

conduct.  Incident 18 occurred on August 17, 2017.  Each incident demonstrates a desire on 

Thao’s behalf to avoid work by not following proper procedures and policies.   

• On April 27, 2012, Thao sat idly in his squad car while other officers finished 

other tasks that obviously had to be done on the call they were at.  Bates 14739-

40.   

• On May 4, 2012, Thao pulled up to a house on a loud party call and instead of 

getting out of his squad to talk with individuals, he simply used the squad’s radio 

system to yell at the people outside the residence.  Thao did not verify the address 

until later and never spoke to the owner or renter of the property.  Bates 14751-

52.   

• On June 3, 2012, Thao filed a false police report claiming he has canvassed a 

neighborhood when in fact he had not.  He later admitted that he forgot to do the 

canvass and lied in the report to avoid getting into trouble.  Bates 14793.   

• Also on June 3, 2012, Thao tried to manipulate a domestic abuse victim to 

respond to questions in a manner which would allow Thao to avoid generating a 

specific report.  Bates 14793-96.   

• The next day, June 4, 2012, Thao’s FTO reported that Thao frequently forgot 

details given to him, and “guesses and adds things into his reports that are 

wrong.”  Bates 14799-14802.   

• The next day, June 5, 2012, his FTO indicated that Thao responded dismissively 

and insubordinately to feedback from his FTO and refused to respond to training 

efforts.  Bates 14806-09.   
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• On July 1, 2012, his FTO reported that Thao on multiple occasions intentionally 

avoided responding to situations which clearly necessitated a police response, 

including observed law violations, and then later claimed he did not see the 

violations.  The FTO added that Thao appeared to lack candor about his 

observations.  Bates 14888-92.   

• On July 7, 2012, Thao, on at least three occasions, attempted to speak to citizens 

in a manner which demonstrated that Thao was not listening to victims and was 

“attempting to talk his way out of [filing] legitimate reports.”  Thao’s field-

training time was extended because of these issues.  Bates 14900-02.   

• Finally, on August 17, 2017, Thao tried to manipulate a domestic abuse victim to 

respond to questions in a manner which would relieve Thao of the responsibility 

to write a domestic assault report.  Bates 4549-50.   

 These incidents are relevant to common scheme or plan through modus operandi.  See 

supra at 27-28.  While working, Thao failed to act according to reasonable police standards 

when confronted with situations that required more work.  In the same way, when he observed 

that the other officers were holding down Mr. Floyd with their body weight, preventing him from 

breathing, Thao did what he could to avoid work.  When it was suggested that the officers use a 

Hobble device on Mr. Floyd, Thao decided against it only because it would create more work.  

But if he had, the officers would have been required to put Mr. Floyd in the rescue position as 

that is specifically part of the Hobble procedures.  This evidence is relevant to show his intent to 

aid the continued assault of Mr. Floyd, and his intent to aid in the commission of second-degree 

manslaughter.   
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II.  The potential prejudice does not outweigh the probative value.  

 When considering whether the probative value of other acts evidence outweighs the 

potential for unfair prejudice, courts are to “balance the relevance of the [other acts], the risk of 

the evidence being used as propensity evidence, and the State’s need to strengthen weak or 

inadequate proof in the case.”  State v. Scruggs, 822 N.W.2d 631, 644 (Minn. 2012).  The 

question is whether the evidence is unfairly prejudicial, meaning that it “persuades by 

illegitimate means,” State v. Schultz, 691 N.W.2d 474, 478 (Minn. 2005).   

 As discussed above, the incidents are highly relevant to the disputed facts.  The evidence 

bears directly on elements and defenses, not tangential facts or issues.  This is not the typical 

case.  The jury will be presented with complex legal and factual issues.  The evidence will help 

the jury understand the facts and circumstances regarding the elements and defenses because of 

the relevance of the evidence.  The direct relevance to the disputed issues weighs heavily on the 

probative side of the scale.   

 The trial court’s instructions will alleviate any potential unfair prejudice.  Undoubtedly 

this Court will give a cautionary instruction, which will tell the jurors not to use the evidence for 

an improper purpose.  See State v. Robinson, 604 N.W.2d 355, 363-64 (Minn. 2000) (court 

should give cautionary instruction before the other acts evidence is admitted and in the final jury 

instructions); Kennedy, 585 N.W.2d at 392 (the trial court’s cautionary instructions lessened the 

probability of prejudice).  Courts presume that jurors follow the court’s instructions.  Fardan, 

773 N.W.2d at 320.  The slight potential for prejudice cannot outweigh the probative value of the 

evidence.   
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CONCLUSION 

 For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the Court admit the 

other acts evidence at the trial of the above captioned matter.   
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